I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Appellants Tillman Carr, individually; Cal Farrer and Jenell Farrer, 

a marital community; Kuo-Ying Frenzel, individually; Julie Ganas, 

individually; William B. Minaglia, individually; Darryl and Rose Hudson, 

a marital community; Keith Peterson, individually; Kathryn DeBernardi, 

individually; Katherine Meade, individually; Rob and Shara Coffman, a 

marital community; and Pamela Smith, individually (collectively referred 

to as the "Contract Liquor Store Owners") ask the Supreme Court of 

Washington to accept review. 

II. DECISION TO BE REVIEWED 

The Appellants Contract Liquor Store Owners seek discretionary 

review of the published decision in Tillman Carr, et al. v. The State of 

Washington, Washington State Court of Appeals Division II No. 46590-6-

II. A copy is attached as Appendix A. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did I-1183 and RCW 66.24.620 create a private cause of action to 
insure the State followed the explicit directive of the citizens? 

2. Does the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the legislature authorized 
the Liquor Control Board to determine whether or not it complied 
with RCW 66.24.620 violate the separation of powers doctrine? 

3. Is the State required to avert the harm suffered by Contract Liquor 
Store Owners as a result of having their contracts taken away? 

4. Does RCW 66.24.620 require the State to apply the operating and 
asset sale revenues to avert harm to the Contract Liquor Store 
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Owners after "taking into account present value of issuance of a 
spirits retail license ... "? 

5. Did the State breach I -1183 by failing to provide a claims process for 
Contract Liquor Store Owners hanned by 1-1183? 

6. Would the finding that 1-1183 does not create a private cause of 
action render I -1183 unconstitutional? 

7. Did 1-1183 unconstitutionally impair the Liquor Store Owners' 
contracts? 

8. Did the State's failure to provide payment required by 1-1183 
constitute an unconstitutional taking without just compensation? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Case Overview. 

Appellants are former Contract Liquor Store Operators who operated 

stores located throughout the State. Appellants were small businesses that 

sold liquor under contracts with the Washington State Liquor Control Board 

that were for a five-year term. When Initiative 1183 went into effect, 

Appellants had four years left on their contracts. 

Initiative 1183 was legislation by the citizens of Washington to 

privatize the sale of liquor. The Initiative ended the State's monopoly over 

liquor sales and provided that all state liquor stores, including the Contract 

Liquor Stores, close by June 1, 2012. The Initiative recognized that the 

Contract Liquor Stores - small, non-government, private businesses -

would be significantly hanned by the change. Therefore, the legislation 

provided specific protections and required payments to insure the Liquor 
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Store Owners would not be hanned by the Initiative. While the voters 

wanted the government out of the liquor business, they did not intend for 

these private small businesses to bear the financial burden of the decision to 

do so. 

Initiative 1183 included specific provisions to account for damages 

that would be suffered by the Liquor Store Owners. The legislation created a 

specific pot of money from the sale of liquor store assets and distribution 

center along with revenue from auctioning off licenses at former liquor store 

locations that it directed to be used to make sure the Contract Liquor Stores 

did not incur any hann. Initiative 1183 specifically directed that the 

accumulated "operating and asset sales revenues" be applied to "avert 

harm" to the interests of the "nonemployee liquor store operators under then 

existing contracts." RCW 66.24.620(6)(b). The Initiative directed that this 

occur "without limitation." Id. The Initiative also recognized it would 

impact existing contracts by directing that "[t]he department of revenue must 

develop rules and procedures to address claims that this act 

unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state and to provide a 

means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid, funded first from 

revenues based on spirits licensing and sale under this act." Initiative 1183, 

§ 303. Thus, the citizens in 1183 recognized that 1183 would terminate the 
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contracts and specifically built into the Initiative a compensation fund to 

provide for payment to address the harm caused to these small businesses. 

As a result oflnitiative 1183, the Liquor Store Owners were deprived 

of four years of the contract term, preventing them from obtaining a return 

on the investments they made in reliance on the term of the contract, along 

with various other harms which were presented to the Trial Court. 

Despite realizing more than $66,000,000 from its operating and asset 

sale revenues, the State refused to follow the legislative directive and took 

the position it did not have to apply any of the revenues to avert the harms 

suffered by the Liquor Store Owners who had their contracts pulled out from 

under them. The State also failed to develop rules and procedures to address 

the Liquor Store Owners' claims that Initiative 1183 impaired contracts with 

the State and to provide a means for reasonable compensation. Instead, the 

State simply ignored requests for relief by the Liquor Store Owners and 

refused to follow the requirements of Initiative 1183. 

On November 2, 2012, the Liquor Store Owners filed suit to obtain 

the relief required by RCW 66.24.620(6)(b) (Initiative 1183). The Liquor 

Store Owners brought five causes of action against the state: 

(1) unconstitutional impairment of contracts; (2) violation of 

RCW 66.24.620(6)(b); (3) violation of Section 303 of Initiative 1183; 

(4) breach of contract; and (5) inverse condemnation. Appellants sought 
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partial summary judgment on the issue of liability, leaving damages for a 

later time. The State sought to dismiss all claims. Notably, the State did not 

present any evidence that "operating and asset sales revenues" were applied 

to averting harm or that the State took "into account present value of 

issuance of a spirits license to the holder of such interest." 

B. Trial Court Decision. 

On November 22, 2013, the Thurston County Superior Court granted 

the State's motion despite recognizing the statutory language suggested an 

intent for compensation to the Contract Liquor Store Owners. The court 

held that "{a}lthough there is some language that seems to suggest 

compensation for contract liquor store operators, it is not clear or direct 

enough to support a private cause of action." Essentially, the Court held that 

the State could ignore the directive of the citizens of this State with impunity 

and without any way for the citizens to hold the State accountable. Holding 

that the Initiative does not support a private cause of action ignores the 

express language of the Initiative and renders the voters' intent meaningless. 

The result of the ruling would also render 1183 unconstitutional on several 

grounds. Appellants appealed on December 5, 2013. 

C. Court Of Appeals Decision. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Trial Court decision by ignoring 

the language of RCW 66.24.620 and § 303 by finding that no private cause 
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of action should be implied. As a result, there is no way for the Contract 

Liquor Store Owners to enforce the rights given to them by the voters and no 

way to enforce the directives the Washington State Liquor Control Board 

ignored. Despite the Court of Appeals decision finding the Contract Liquor 

Store Owners were left without any remedy for the violation of RCW 

66.24.620, it also found that 1183 was not an unconstitutional impairment of 

contract and that there was not an unconstitutional taking of the Contract 

Liquor Store Owners' property. 

As discussed below, the Court of Appeals decision violated the 

separation of powers doctrine by concluding that no private cause of action 

was implied and interpreting 1183 to give the Liquor Control Board (the 

executive branch) the "discretion" to determine for itself whether it complied 

with the explicit requirements of RCW 66.24.620. The Court of Appeals' 

failure to properly interpret the plain language of 1183 and the facts 

surrounding it are inconsistent with the Washington State Constitution, 

conflicts with Washington law with regard to statutory interpretation, 

presents an issue of substantial public interest, and presents significant 

questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. 

Accordingly, review should be accepted. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

Review should be accepted if there is a significant question of law 

under the Constitution of the State of Washington; if the petition involves a 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court; 

or if the decision is in conflict with a decision of either the Supreme Court or 

another Court of Appeals. RAP 13.1 (b). Here, each of these exist. 

A. The Petition Involves An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest. 

The improper interpretation circumvented the People's constitutional 

right to directly legislate. The Court of Appeals decision rendered the 

directive of where funds were to be spent and the protections provided 

specifically for the Contract Liquor Store Owners meaningless. There is 

significant public interest in having a decision that supports an agency 

ignoring the directive of the citizens of this State reviewed. 

Rather than averting harm to Contract Liquor Store Owners, as 

expressly directed in Initiative 1183, the State caused severe financial 

hardships for the Appellant Contract Liquor Store Owners and the owners of 

the approximately 160 former contract liquor stores throughout the State that 

were directly harmed by the Initiative. The only relief available to the 

Contract Liquor Store Owners is through this action. It defies common 

sense the citizens would specifically provide the Contract Liquor Store 
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Owners the protections of the statute without intending any way to enforce 

those rights. 

"It has long been recognized that a legislative enactment may 
be the foundation of a right of action." McNeal v. Allen, 95 
Wn.2d 265, 274, 621 P.2d 1285 (1980) (Brachtenbach, J, 
dissenting). Further, we can assume that the legislature is 
aware of the doctrine of implied statutory causes of action 
and also assume that the legislature would not enact a 
remedial statute granting rights to an identifiable class 
without enabling members of that class to enforce those 
rights. Without an implicit creation of a remedy, the statute is 
meaningless. McNeal, at 277, 621 P.2d 1285 (Brachtenbach, 
J, dissenting). 

Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 919-20 (1990). 

In this case, the Court of Appeals ignored the intent of the statute that 

was found not only in the plain language of RCW 66.24.620, which showed 

an intent to protect the Contract Liquor Store Owners, but also § 303 and the 

comments when 1183 was considered. Infra. These all made it clear that the 

intent was to privatize liquor sales without impacting private businesses. 

Implementing a compensatory remedy is consistent with the 

underlying purpose of 1183. The purpose of 1183 was to eliminate state 

government from the liquor business while simultaneously averting harm to 

Contract Liquor Stores who had contracted with the State. As a result, RCW 

66.24.620(6)(a) and (b) were included to insure that these small business 

operations would not carry the burden of the legislation intended to affect 

only the State. This was done by ensuring a fund was created and available 
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to avert the financial impacts and harm such store owners were going to 

suffer by having their contracts terminated. The People included a section in 

1183 providing that Contract Liquor Store Owners need not meet the 

Initiative's new 10,000 square foot retail space requirement. This too was a 

specific mandate to alleviate the financial impact of the initiative on existing 

store owners. RCW 66.24.630(2)(c). By providing this relief, the Initiative 

recognized that giving space concessions or other such administrative 

assistance to the Contract Liquor Store Owners was necessary. However, it 

did not stop there. RCW 66.24.620(6)(a) and (b) were enacted to create an 

"Alleviate Harm Fund." The legislation as a whole confirms that a private 

cause of action was contemplated and intended by the People as part of the 

entire statute, to allow store owners to sue the State if they believed that 

harm aversion was ignored or unreasonable. 

Whether citizens of this State should be entitled to have access to the 

Courts to determine whether a government agency complied with the 

obligations required by the legislature is an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be reviewed. As a result, review is appropriate. 

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Raises Significant Questions Of 
Law Under The Washington Constitution. 

When drafting the Washington Constitution, the first power the 

People reserved for themselves was "the power to propose bills, laws, and to 
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enact or reject the same at the polls, independent of the legislature .... " 

Washington Cons. Art. 2, sec. 1. The initiative power "is self-executing, and 

the legislature 's authority to affect the initiative process is limited to 

facilitating its operation." Community Care Coalition of Washington v. 

Reed, 165 Wn.2d 606,612 (2009). When it comes to initiatives, the "court's 

aim is to determine the collective intent of the people who enacted the 

measure." McGowan v. State, 148 Wn.2d 278, 288 (2002) (citing 

Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205 

(2000)). Doing so requires a court to read initiatives "as they are written and 

not as [the court] would like them to be written." Brown v. State, 155 

Wn.2d 254, 267 (2005). Indeed, courts are to read initiatives "in [their] 

entirety, not piecemeal, and interpret the various provisions of [initiatives] 

in light of one another." McGowan, 148 Wn.2d at 288 (quoting W. 

Petroleum Imps., Inc. v. Friedt, 127 Wn.2d 420, 428 (1995)). The court's 

interpretation should ''focus[} on the language as the average well informed 

voter would understand it." Id. 

In this case, the Court of Appeals not only ignored the constitutional 

issues caused by its determination that the Contract Liquor Store Owners 

lacked any right to bring a private cause of action to enforce the statute 

enacted to protect them, but it also created an additional constitutional issue 

by interpreting the Initiative to deprive the judicial branch of oversight. It 
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held the Initiative provided the executive branch the sole discretion to decide 

whether the executive branch had complied with the statute.1 Thus, the 

optruon raises significant questions of law under the Washington State 

Constitution. 

1. The Court Of Appeals Decision Violates The Separation 
Of Powers Doctrine. 

This is a constitutional case. What it does involve is one of 
the cardinal and fundamental principles of the American 
constitutional system, the separation of powers doctrine. 

Washington State Bar Ass'n v. State, 125 Wn.2d 901, 903, 890 P.2d 1047, 

1048 ( 1995). "Our constitution does not contain a formal separation of 

powers clause." Brown v. Owen, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718, 206 P.3d 310 

(2009). "'Nonetheless, the very division of our government into different 

branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a 

vital separation of powers doctrine."' Id. (quoting Carrick v. Locke, 125 

Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994)). 

The doctrine " 'does not depend on the branches of 
government being hermetically sealed off .from one 
another, '" but ensures "that the fundamental functions of 
each branch remain inviolate. " Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist. 
No. 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 504, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009) (quoting 
Carrick, 125 Wn. 2d at 135, 882 P. 2d 17 3). If '"the activity of 
one branch threatens the independence or integrity or 
invades the prerogatives of another, '" it violates the 
separation ofpowers. Fircrest, 158 Wn.2d at 394, 143 P.3d 

1 Notably, there was no rulemaking authority provided in 1183 to support such a 
conclusion. 
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776 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Moreno. 147 
Wn.2d at 505-06, 58 P.3d 265). 

Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr., P.S., 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 

374, 377 (2009). 

In this case, the Court of Appeals found that no private cause of 

action should be implied to allow enforcement of RCW 66.24.620, because 

"[t]he use of the broad term 'measure' indicates that the legislature intended 

to allow the Department to exercise its discretion to determine what 

measures would be just and reasonable." The Court of Appeals interpreted 

the statute to unilaterally prevent review by the judiciary with regard to 

whether the executive branch complied with the requirements of the 

Initiative. The Court of Appeals interpreted it to eliminate the judiciary's 

role and in a way that granted the executive branch powers not contained 

within the statute. Indeed, the statute does not provide any rule making 

authority to the Washington State Liquor Control Board to "determine what 

measures would be just and reasonable." The Court of Appeals took the 

genuine issue of material fact for trial - whether the Liquor Control Board 

averted harm and weighed the facts to determine no private cause of action 

should be implied. See Appendix A, footnote 5. Then, it incorrectly ruled 

that the Liquor Control Board could "determine what measure would be just 

and reasonable." As a result, the Court of Appeals took away the power of 
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the judiciary and ruled the Liquor Control Board could self-regulate. There 

simply was no such authority provided by 1183. The citizens of the State 

did not put the fox in charge of the hen house. Thus, the Court of Appeals 

decision violates the separation of powers doctrine and should be reviewed. 

2. 1-1183 Made Payment To Prevent Harm A Condition Of 
The Termination Of The Contracts. 

The Court of Appeals failed to recognize the constitutional impact of 

its decision that there is no private cause of action to enforce the directives of 

RCW 66.24.620. The Court of Appeals interpreted RCW 66.24.620 to be 

optional without any enforcement mechanism. Essentially, the Court of 

Appeals rendered the directives of the citizens meaningless. As a result, 

genuine issues of material fact existed with regard to Plaintiffs' remaining 

constitutional claims. 

The Court of Appeals read the underlying contracts at issue in a 

vacuum and ignored material facts. The facts surrounding I-1183 should