RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 30, 2015, 12:55 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK



NO. 91958-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TILLMAN CARR, individually; CAL FARRER and JENELL FARRER, a marital community; KUO-YING FRENZEL, individually; JULIE GANAS, individually; WILLIAM B. MINAGLIA, individually; DARRYL and ROSE HUDSON, a marital community; KEITH PETERSON, individually; KATHRYN DEBERNARDI, individually; KATHERINE MEADE, individually; ROB and SHARA COFFMAN, a marital community; and PAMELA SMITH, individually,

Appellants,

v.

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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This case involves ordinary issues of contract law and statutory interpretation. The Court of Appeals' rejection of the Contract Liquor Store Owners' interpretation of Initiative 1183 does not make this a constitutional case. This case involves events that happened in the past, that will not recur, and that affected only a small group of people. It does not present an issue of substantial public interest supporting discretionary review.

A. This Case Does Not Involve Significant Questions Of Law Under The State Or Federal Constitutions

1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Violate The Separation Of Powers Doctrine

The Court of Appeals held that neither RCW 66.24.620(6)(b) nor Section 303 of Initiative 1183 creates a private cause of action for damages. *Carr*, slip op. at 9–14. According to the Contract Liquor Store Owners, the Court of Appeals' decision violates the constitutional separation of powers doctrine because it "held the Initiative provided the executive branch the sole discretion to decide whether the executive branch had complied with the statute." Pet. at 6; *see id.* at 6, 12–13, 20. That is not what the court did.

In their complaint, the Contract Liquor Store Owners sought only damages and other monetary relief. CP 51–52. The courts of this state use a three-part test to determine whether a statute impliedly creates a private cause of action for damages: (1) Is the plaintiff within the class for whose especial benefit the statute was enacted, (2) does the legislative intent support creating or denying a remedy, and (3) is implying a remedy consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation? Braam ex rel. Braam v. State, 150 Wn.2d 689, 711, 81 P.3d 851 (2003) (no implied private cause of action against state agency for alleged violations of child welfare statutes); Schatz v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 178 Wn. App.

16, 29–30, 314 P.3d 406 (2013) (no implied private cause of action against state agency for alleged violations of comparable worth statutes), *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1013 (2014). The Court of Appeals properly applied that test, rejected the arguments in the Contract Liquor Store Owners' petition, and held that the statute did not create a private cause of action for damages. *Carr*, slip op. at 9–14; *see* Pet. at 7–9.

The Contract Liquor Store Owners contend that the Court of Appeals "interpreted the statute to unilaterally prevent review by the judiciary with regard to whether the executive branch complied with the requirements of the Initiative." Pet. at 12-13; see id. at 1. The Court of Appeals did no such thing. It held only that the Contract Liquor Store Owners did not have a cause of action for monetary damages. The Contract Liquor Store Owners could have pursued other remedies. If they believed that the Board was not complying with RCW 66.24.620(6)(b) during the transition to a privatized liquor sales system, they could have filed an action under the Administrative Procedure Act to compel performance of a duty required by law to be performed. RCW 34.05.570(4)(b). If they believed the Department was violating Section 303 by not adopting rules, they could have filed a petition for rulemaking under RCW 34.05.330 followed by judicial review if necessary. Instead, the Contract Liquor Store Owners waited until after the new system was in place to sue for damages. Their choice does not turn an ordinary issue of statutory interpretation into a constitutional separation of powers issue.

2. The Contract Liquor Store Owners' Other Arguments Do Not Raise Significant Constitutional Questions

The Contract Liquor Store Owners' remaining constitutional arguments merely express disagreement with the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 66.24.620 and their contracts with the Board. Pet. at 13–20. The Court of Appeals' interpretation was proper and needs no correction from this Court.

First, the Contract Liquor Store Owners contend their contracts with the Board were unconstitutionally impaired or taken because Initiative 1183 terminated the contracts without their consent. Pet. at 14–15. In fact, the contracts contained an express provision allowing the Board to terminate the contracts if its authority to sell liquor was withdrawn. See, e.g., CP 149 (Carr contract); Carr, slip op. at 2. At the time the contracts were being finalized, Initiative 1183 had already been filed with the Secretary of State, and liquor privatization measures had recently been on the ballot. See Laws of 2012, ch. 2, at 199 (initiative filed on May 26, 2011); Wash. Ass'n for Substance Abuse & Violence Prevention, 174 Wn.2d at 649. Thus, not surprisingly, the Contract Liquor

Store Owners' contracts anticipated that the Board's authority to perform could be withdrawn. Initiative 1183 withdrew the Board's authority and triggered the termination provision in the contracts. The Court of Appeals recognized this and rejected the Contract Liquor Store Owners' attempt to turn ordinary contract terms into constitutional issues. *Carr*, slip op. at 5–9. This Court should reject that attempt as well.

Second, the Contract Liquor Store Owners contend that the Court of Appeals' rejection of their interpretation of Initiative 1183 circumvents the right of the People to enact legislation through the initiative process of the Washington Constitution. Pet. at 7; see id. at 11–12. According to the Contract Liquor Store Owners, RCW 66.24.620 created a mandatory "Alleviate Harm Fund" that requires the state to pay them money to insulate them from the economic effects of Initiative 1183, and Section 303 of the Initiative directed the Department to set up a claims process for compensating them. Pet. at 3–4, 9, 16–17.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the voters did not intend the Contract Liquor Store Owners' interpretation of Initiative 1183 because the statutory language does not support it.

RCW 66.24.620 directed the Board to take the actions needed to complete the transition to a privatized liquor sales system by June 1, 2012. It provides, in relevant part:

- (5) All sales proceeds under this section, net of direct sales expenses and other transition costs authorized by this section, must be deposited into the liquor revolving fund.
- (6)(a) The board must complete the orderly transition from the current state-controlled system to the private licensee system of spirits retailing and distribution as required under this chapter by June 1, 2012.
- (b) The transition must include, without limitation, a provision for applying operating and asset sale revenues of the board to just and reasonable measures to avert harm to interests of tribes, military buyers, and nonemployee liquor store operators under then existing contracts for supply by the board of distilled spirits, taking into account present value of issuance of a spirits retail license to the holder of such interest. The provision may extend beyond the time for completion of transition to a spirits licensee system.

Section 303 of Initiative 1183 provides:

The department of revenue must develop rules and procedures to address claims that this act unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid, funded first from revenues based on spirits licensing and sale under this act.

The Court of Appeals recognized that RCW 66.24.620(6)(b) does not use the term "compensation." Instead, it directed the Board to take "measures" to avert harm, a term that encompasses the non-monetary actions that the Board took to help the Contract Liquor Store Owners during the transition to privatization. *Carr*, slip op. at 11. The Court further recognized that the term "avert harm" suggests anticipatory and proactive action, not retroactive compensation. *Id.* at 11–12. Finally, the

Court of Appeals recognized that, to the extent Section 303 addresses compensation, it is only for claims that Initiative 1183 "unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state," not claims under RCW 66.24.620(6)(b). *Id.* at 14. The Court concluded that the Contract Liquor Store Owners would not be entitled to relief under Section 303 because Initiative 1183 did not impair their contracts with the Board, as discussed above. *Id.*

The Contract Liquor Store Owners identify no error in the Court of Appeals' statutory analysis. Their disagreement with the result reached by the Court of Appeals does not make this a constitutional case.

This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. Consequently, it does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. This Case Meets None Of The Remaining Criteria Of RAP 13.4.(b)

The Contract Liquor Store Owners argue that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves the interpretation of a statute enacted through the initiative process. Pet. at 7–9. The mere fact that this case arises from a law passed by a ballot initiative does not create an issue of substantial public interest justifying discretionary review under RAP 13.4. Laws enacted through a

ballot initiative are entitled to no greater judicial scrutiny than statutes passed through the normal legislative process. See Wash. Ass'n for Substance Abuse & Violence Prevention, 174 Wn.2d at 654; Roe v. Teletech Customer Care Mgmt. (Colo.) LLC, 171 Wn.2d 736, 746-47, 257 P.3d 586 (2011). This Court has denied review in other cases involving initiatives, including Initiative 1183. See Fedway Marketplace West, LLC v. State, 183 Wn. App. 860, 336 P.3d 615 (2014) (rejecting former state liquor landlords' claims related to implementation of Initiative 1183), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1013 (2015); see generally U.S. Oil Trading, LLC v. State, 159 Wn. App. 357, 249 P.3d 630 (2011) (rejecting plaintiff's interpretation of Initiative 960), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1025 (2011).

The Contract Liquor Store Owners also urge that this case requires this Court's attention because of the financial effects of Initiative 1183 on small businesses. Pet. at 17–20. They support their argument with a summary of citizen testimony from a 2010 legislative staff report about a liquor privatization bill that failed in the Legislature, a summary they incorrectly characterize as statements of a "Senate Committee" on the effects of Initiative 1183. Pet. at 17–18.² The fact that citizens testified

2015).

² The Senate Bill Report that the Contract Liquor Store Owners cite is S.B. Rep. on S.B. 6204, 61st Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2010), available at http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2009-10/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/Senate/6204%20SBA%20LCCP%2010.pdf (last visited July 27,

against an unsuccessful liquor privatization bill during a 2010 legislative hearing is not evidence that this case regarding an initiative passed in 2011 warrants discretionary review under RAP 13.4.

The Court of Appeals understood that the Contract Liquor Store Owners' sales dropped as a result of Initiative 1183, and that some owners closed or sold their stores. *Carr*, slip op. at 3; *see id.* at 9. But the court emphasized that the people were very specific regarding their intent in enacting the Initiative. *Id.* at 12. The Court of Appeals examined the 15 purposes listed in Section 101 of Initiative 1183, but found no indication that the voters intended to compensate former contract liquor store owners for all economic damages suffered from its enactment. *Id.* at 12–13.

This case involves events that happened in the past, that will not recur, and that affected only a small group of people who had entered into contracts with the Board allowing termination of those contracts in the event the Board's authority to perform was withdrawn. Approximately 160 contract liquor store managers sold liquor on behalf of the Board before Initiative 1183 took effect. See Pet. at 7. Eleven of them are appellants in this case. Three other contract liquor store managers are plaintiffs in a case that has been stayed pending the outcome of this

appeal.³ Thus, this case affects less than ten percent of the small group of contract liquor store managers affected by the privatization of Washington's liquor system.

This Court should reject the Contract Liquor Store Owners' attempt to turn an ordinary question of statutory interpretation that affects just a few businesses into an issue of substantial public interest. This case does not meet the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

This case was about whether the Board properly terminated its contracts with the Contract Liquor Store Owners in accordance with the contract terms, and whether Initiative 1183 created an implied cause of action for damages under the test set out by this Court in *Braam ex rel.*Braam v. State. The Court of Appeals and the Thurston County Superior Court properly resolved those issues in favor of the state. Nothing in the

³ Ferrel v. State of Washington, Thurston County Superior Court No. 12-2-02678-2 (stayed Dec. 6, 2013).

⁴ The Contract Liquor Store Owners have identified no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Thus, this case does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Court of Appeals decision warrants further review. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Contract Liquor Store Owners' petition for review.